Fort Knox: Birthplace of Today’s

by Dr. Robert S. Cameron

The U.S. Army Armor Center and School are preparing to re-
locate to Fort Benning, Georgia, in accordance with the recom-
mendations of the 2005 Base Realignment and Closure (BRAC)
Commission. This move will end a nearly 80-year association
between mounted maneuver devel opments and Fort Knox. Dur-
ing this period, activities on the post shaped and influenced the
branch’s nature and determined its unique evolutionary path.
When the realignment to Georgia is complete, armor will have
left behind its Kentucky roots to begin a new chapter in its de-
velopment. Although tanks have been associated with Fort Ben-
ning since 1919, armor’s origins lie at Fort Knox.

The Tank Corps constituted the Army’sfirst tank force. Estab-
lished in 1917, after the nation entered World War 1, its purpose
lay in the organization and preparation of American tank units
to support operations on the Western Front in France, where
trench warfare predominated. When the war ended in 1918, the
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Tank Corps included 12,000 soldiers deployed overseas with
the American Expeditionary Forces and more than 8,000 in
stateside training camps. Moreover, severa tank units had ac-
quired combat experience during the American-led offensives
at St. Mihiel, the Meuse-Argonne, and during combined opera-
tionswith the British army. In every case, tanks were employed
to breach enemy fortified lines.t

Despite the Tank Corps' battlefield success and growth, it did
not become the foundation for a permanent branch. Postwar de-
mobilization reduced its strength to less than 3,000 soldiers with-
in ayear.2 The National Defense Act of 1920 concluded aforce
structure redesign effort that defined the Army throughout the
interwar era. During this process, Tank Corps leaders failed to
articulate a mission for tanks other than infantry support. Con-
sequently, the national defense act abolished the Tank Corpsand




Armor Branch

transferred exclusive responsibility for further tank devel op-
ment to the infantry.3

Asan infantry support weapon, the tank’srole lay in facilitat-
ing the advance of therifleman. To ensure their widespread avail-
ability, tanks were distributed in companies assigned to infantry
divisions. The Infantry School at Fort Benning, Georgia, and the
Tank School at Camp George G. Meade, Maryland, maintained
larger concentrations for demonstration and instruction purpos-
es. The Tank School provided doctrine and training guidance,
which generally focused on small unit tank-infantry coordina-
tion. During tactical exercises, tanks ruptured enemy lines and
accompanied advancing riflemen. Often, these training events
replicated attacks on fortified lines reminiscent of World War 1.
Coordination occurred via detailed planning, phase lines, com-
mon terrain objectives, and control of the tanks by the command-
ers of supported units.4
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Doctrine effectively tethered the tank to the riflemen and dis-
couraged independent operations. Tanks were not expected to
shape the battlespace, instead remaining in close proximity to
their supported infantry. This close association became more
pronounced after 1932, when the Tank School relocated to Fort
Benning and became part of the Infantry School. Tank programs
of instruction shortened to permit all tank studentsto first attend
training in the fundamental's of infantry operations.5 A close re-
lationship between tanks and infantry on and off the battlefield
resulted, which in turn established an expertise in tank-infantry
operations at the small-unit level.

The narrow role envisioned for tanks encouraged simple tacti-
cal organizations. They did not, for example, include reconnais-
sance, artillery, and engineering assets. Maintenance support
proved minimal, since tanks were to operate near parent forma-
tionsand rely on the latter’s service organi zations.6 Someinfan-
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cent of World War 1.

try officers did recommend larger, combined-arms tank units,
but their proposals contradicted the tank’s support weapon sta-
tus and required funding beyond the limited appropriations
available.”

Consequently, infantry tank development remained limited in
scope. Tanks remained tied to the advance of riflemen, ensuring
them access to armored support. Tank unitsremained largely col-
lections of tanks, configured for their singular role on the battle-
field.8 Tactical innovation also remained constrained by under-
strengthed units and forced reliance on antiquated tanks that re-
mained in the Army’sinventory until gradually replaced on the
eve of World War 11.9

In 1938, infantry tank units underwent reorganization. Division-
al tank companies disappeared, replaced by battalions and regi-
ments assigned to a general headquarters pool for attachment to
infantry formations as necessary. This change undermined the
teamwork developed by tanks and infantry units of the same di-
vision routinely training together. Although larger tank organi-
zations were expected to have a greater effect on the battlefield,
War Department guidance proved confusing and contradicto-
ry.10 In 1939, the Tank School devel oped a new manual to gov-
ern tank operations that reflected organizational change, more
flexible tactics, and a growing interest in radio communications.
Yet, despite itstraining value, the manual remained tentative,
awaiting War Department publication approval .11

By 1940, theinfantry tank force lay in astate of flux. Config-
ured largely for infantry support missions, the tank force lacked
the means for independent operations, and did not share a close
relationship with the infantry divisionsit would be called on to
support during combat. Doctrine and training remained torn be-
tween existing principles of employment that the Tank School
sought to change and the modernizing ideas incorporated in the
new, yet unpublished, manual .

Today’s armor organizations are characterized by their lethal-
ity, agility, and versatility. They constitute a decisive influence
on the battlefield, and indeed, are intended to shape the battle-
space at the enemy’s expense. Armored formations possess the
ability toinfluence decisively entire campaigns, asdemonstrated

“The Tank School provided doctrine and training guidance, which generally focused on small unit
tank-infantry coordination. During tactical exercises, tanks ruptured enemy lines and accompa-
nied advancing riflemen. Often, these training events replicated attacks on fortified lines reminis-

in Operation Desert Storm and more re-
cently in Operation Iragi Freedom. Cur-
rent operations in Irag demonstrate the
importance of direct support to the rifle-
man by tank platoons and even sections,
but the heritage of infantry support con-
gtitutes only one part of armor’s capabili-
ty. Where, then does the branch’s empha-
sis on organizational flexibility, decen-
tralized command and control, high oper-
ational tempo, and maneuver originate?

IN 1928, Secretary of War Dwight F. Da-
vis directed the establishment of the Ex-
perimental Mechanized Force at Camp
George G. Meade. His action reflected a
growing sense within the Army that the
tank’s value transcended infantry support.
It also constituted his reaction to British
military maneuvers that included large
numbers of tanks employed in a variety
of tactical roles. The Experimental Mech-
anized Force served as an organizational
test bed to determine functions other than
infantry support for amechanized unit.12

Thisunit disbanded after only six weeks,
but its existence spurred further experi-
mentation. In 1930, Congress authorized

creating the Mechanized Force at Fort Eustis, Virginia, to study
mechanized tactics, organization, and materiel. The new unit
soon focused on the employment of tanks in cavalry roles, a
trend encouraged by its commander and executive officer, Col-
onel Daniel Van Voorhis and Major Adna R. Chaffee Jr., both
cavalry officers.’3 Previoudly, Chaffee participated in analysis of
the Experimental Mechanized Force and recommended alarge-
scale increase in the Army’s mechanization efforts.4 However,
the Mechanized Force disbanded in 1931. With the economic
effects of the Great Depression worsening, the cost of the Mech-
anized Force became untenable. Moreover, the cavalry nature
of its activities suggested alignment with the mounted branch.1s

Therefore, in 1931, the Army adopted anew mechani zation pol-
icy to broaden mechanized devel opment beyond the infantry. Im-
plementation of thispolicy resulted in transforming the 1st Cav-
ary Regiment into the 1st Cavalry Regiment (Mechanized), par-
tidly through incorporation of assets from the now-defunct
M echanized Force. Van Voorhis and Chaffee provided |eader-
ship continuity by assuming the roles of commander and execu-
tive officer, respectively, in the new mechanized unit. Sincetanks
could not be assigned to cavalry organizationswithout violating
the National Defense Act of 1920, legal conformance was ob-
tained by redesignating all such vehicles as combat cars.16

Camp Knox, Kentucky, became the new headquarters of the
mechanized cavalry. Centrally located, it possessed easy access
viaroad and rail transport. Encompassing 33,000 acres, the in-
stallation constituted one of the largest in the country, possess-
ing firing ranges, ample maneuver space, and varied terrain.
Intended as an artillery training center in World War I, the need
for such afacility ended with the war, leaving Camp Knox an
empty, largely undevel oped installation. It suffered from disuse
for much of the 1920s.%

Thearrival of the entire 1st Cavalry Regiment (Mechanized) in
1933 changed its status — the installation became a permanent
post, signified by its renaming as Fort Knox. New construction
began to provide garage and training facilities. Initially, limited
funding and drainage problems interfered with building, but
conscripts from local prisons provided much of the necessary
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labor. The 1st Cavalry, however, found lit-
tle time to settle or focus on its primary
function as a mechanized cavalry test
bed.18

Creating the Civilian Conservation Corps
(CCC) and the Army’s oversight of this
initiative resulted in a major diversion of
military assets from training activities.
The CCC wasafederal program intended
to offset unemployment during the Great
Depression by providing jobs for males
between the ages of 18 and 25 in public
works projects such as landscaping, re-
forestation, and infrastructure develop-
ment. Army responsibilities included the
management and operation of work camps
throughout the country. The 1st Cavalry
alone became responsible for 144 such
camps in Kentucky and its surrounding
states. Its soldiers managed the camps,
provided logistics support, maintained
connecting roads, provided vehicular sup-
port, and directed the actions of the work
gangs.®
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These activities reduced the regiment’s
readiness and limited training to platoon-
size exercises. However, the nature of the
CCC work provided invaluable experience
in the coordination and operation of dispersed assets. Working
far from major road nets and towns required the establishment
of communications networks based on radios and couriers. Col-
lectively, the CCC experienceinstilled an understanding of com-
mand, control, communications, and logistics — skills that di-
rectly benefited mechanized cavalry development.2t

ry test bed.”

Between 1933 and 1939, Fort Knox became a new center of
gravity for Army mechanization. In this period, the mechanized
cavalry evolved from an experimental force that had little doc-
trinal guidance to a combat organization that was governed by
unique organizational and doctrinal principles, complemented
by arevolutionary command and control process. It grew from
asingle regiment into the 7th Cavalry Brigade (M echanized)
through the addition of the 13th Cavalry Regiment (M echani zed),
the attachment of the 68th Field Artillery Regiment, and the ex-
pansion of the brigade headquarters. The brigade constituted the
only combined-armsunit in the Army. In addition to mechanized
cavalry development, its responsibilities also included the inte-
gration of fire support techniques and mechanized operations.22

In the 1930s, cavalry missionsincluded reconnaissance, attack,
defend, delay, pursuit, exploitation, security, and the conduct of
raids.2 To perform all of these activities and transition among
them, the mechanized cavalry required organizational flexibili-
ty. Little guidance, however, existed for the design of avehicle-
based force to perform this mission set. The Army traditionally
favored rigid organizations separated by tactical function. Simi-
larly, Cavalry School guidance included the cautionary note:
“Asidefrom an armored car troop, the cavalry service hasnot had
experience in the devel opment of mechanization in our army.”24

The mechanized cavalry developed a concept of operations
from horse cavalry doctrine, which directed mounted units to
operate in small groups, dispersed over a broad frontage. This
dispersion ensured survival on a battlefield dominated by artil-
lery, machine guns, and aircraft. In the mechanized cavalry reg-
iment, replacing horses with vehiclesincreased the extent of this
dispersion. Moreover, the principal combat power of the mech-
anized cavalry regiment lay in its combat cars. Scattering them
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“The arrival of the entire 1st Cavalry Regiment (Mechanized) in 1933 changed its status — the in-
stallation became a permanent post, signified by its renaming as Fort Knox. New construction be-
gan to provide garage and training facilities. Initially, limited funding and drainage problems inter-
fered with building, but conscripts from local prisons provided much of the necessary labor. The 1st
Cavalry, however, found little time to settle or focus on its primary function as a mechanized caval-

i
R
TN L I

e ¥ —

across the battlespace in small numbers increased their vulner-
ability. Therefore, each group of combat cars received a small
attachment of cavalry troopers and mortars, transported in scout
cars. The mortars provided fire support, while the troopers pro-
vided force protection for the combat cars and secured objec-
tives once taken.?

In effect, the mechanized cavalry regiment intended to operate
asacollection of small, combined-arms teams. To facilitate the
regiment’s breakdown into these tactical groupings, its head-
quartersincluded detachable command cells. Once operations

“Moreover, the principal combat power of the mechanized cavalry regi-
ment lay in its combat cars. Scattering them across the battlespace in
small numbers increased their vulnerability. Therefore, each group of
combat cars received a small attachment of cavalry troopers and mor-
tars, transported in scout cars.”
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began, these cells assisted in the direction and coordination of
the subordinate teams' activities. They extended the regimental
commander’s span of control, served asinformation conduits,
and helped sustain operational tempo.2

The unique nature of the headquarters organization, however,
did not resolve all of the command challenges posed by muilti-
ple fast-moving teams, moving independently toward separate
objectives. Effective command and control required a reliable
communications network that could rapidly transmit informa-
tion and operate over long distances. The mechanized cavalry
sought a solution through innovative application of the most ad-
vanced information technology of the day — the radio.

In the 1930s, the Army considered the radio too prone to jam-
ming and interception to be of much value on the battlefield.
Mandatory security measures further eroded the radio’s utility
by slowing the rate of information transfer and encouraging
greater reliance on wire and couriers. At Fort Knox, the mecha
nized cavalry sought a high operational tempo that permitted
actions inside the enemy’s decision cycle. It could not do so
with arate of advance tied to the speed of laying wire. There-
fore, it dispensed with Army security requirements and em-
braced short, cryptic messages transmitted in the clear to accel-
erate information transfer.2

The mechanized cavalry intended to offset the danger posed by
intercepted message traffic through a faster pace of operations
enabled by unfettered radio use. It also sought to reducethe quan-
tity of information subject to interception. Before each operation
began, team leaders were briefed on their mission and its rela-
tion to the regimental objective. Subsequent radio communica-
tions focused on mission changes and situation updates. Even if
intercepted, the fragmentary nature of such messages compli-
cated efforts by enemy intelligence to comprehend their signifi-
cance without the context provided by the pre-mission briefing.28

Radio nets constituted the foundation of the regiment’s com-
muni cations architecture. Each net was associated with a partic-
ular frequency and tactical function. The flow of information was

7th Cavalry Brigade at U.S. Military Academy;‘1939 s,

controlled and monitored to ensure critical information reached
the appropriate command and to prevent subordinate command-
ersfrom being overloaded with extraneous information. The net
configuration also accommodated changesin tactical teamsand
regimenta attachments. This adaptability paralleled the unit’s or-
ganizational flexibility.2

The battle command techniques and communications structure
developed by the mechanized cavalry at Fort Knox proved rev-
olutionary. The effort to maximize the radio’s communications
value led to the emergence of mission-type and fragmentary or-
ders. When combined with radio communications, this com-
mand style accelerated tactical decisionmaking and made pos-
sible the decentralized control of multiple fast-moving columns
without sacrificing operational tempo. Thisdevel opment marked
a revolution in command and control that would not become
widespread in the Army until World War I1. A similar result —
abeit on a larger and more sophisticated level — inspired the
Army’s Force XXI initiative of the 1990s and more recent de-
velopment of acommon operational picture and net-centric op-
erations.

The revolutionary principles established by the 7th Cavalry
Brigade (M echanized) at Fort Knox were tested and applied dur-
ing maneuvers and field exercises in the 1930s. These events
demonstrated the mechanized cavalry’s ability to respond rap-
idly to tactical developments. Aggressive reconnaissance and ex-
tensive radio use helped commanders identify enemy positions
and maneuver to either eliminate or bypass the positions. Dur-
ing First Army maneuversin August 1939, the 7th Cavalry Bri-
gade (Mechanized) enveloped the opposing force before over-
running its rear area elements. It decisively impacted opera-
tions, disrupted resistance to friendly forces, and lay poised for
further action when the maneuvers ended.*

Army leaders remained skeptical of the mechanized cavalry’s
ability to achieve similar success in an actual combat environ-
ment. The German invasion of Poland within days of the ma-
neuvers conclusion did much to end thisuncertainty. On amuch
larger scale, combined arms panzer divi-
sions and corps applied tactics similar to
those demonstrated by the mechanized
cavalry to conquer anation in four weeks.

German operations validated the con-
cepts developed at Fort Knox and fueled
interest in amechanized division. In May
1940, the Army conducted Third Army
maneuvers in Louisiana. Participants in-
cluded the 7th Cavalry Brigade (Mech-
anized) and nearly every tank unit in the
Regular Army’s inventory. Operations
sought to determinethe viahility of creat-
ing mechanized divisions in the field on
an as-needed basis. The maneuvers, how-
ever, demonstrated the need to create per-
manent formations whose components
routinely trained together. The maneuver
experience also generated a consensus to
consolidate mechanized devel opment.3t

Abroad, the Germans invaded France
and forced itssurrender in asix-week cam-
paign. Once again, panzer divisions and
corps spearheaded the German success. In
response to the Third Army maneuvers

“Radio nets constituted the foundation of the regiment’s communications architecture. Each net
was associated with a particular frequency and tactical function. The flow of information was con-
trolled and monitored to ensure critical information reached the appropriate command and to pre-
vent subordinate commanders from being overloaded with extraneous information.”

and France's defeat, the U.S. Army estab-
lished theArmored Forceon 10 July 1940.
The new organization became responsi-
ble for crafting an American equivalent
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“The direct influence of Fort Knox on armored organizations diminished during World War Il, especial-
ly after their deployment overseas. However, the Armored Force School remained a nexus for the dis-
semination of doctrinal updates and combat lessons pertinent to mounted operations.”

to the panzer division and devel oping related training programs,
doctrine, and materiel. It replaced the separate development ef-
forts of theinfantry tank force and the mechanized cavalry. The
7th Cavalry Brigade (M echanized) and active infantry tank units
were reorganized into the 1st and 2d Armored Divisions and the
70th Tank Battalion. Considered aservicetest, theArmored Force
possessed the status of an experimental organization rather than
apermanently constituted branch of service.®

Fort Knox became the headquarters location for the Armored
Force, underscoring the post’s association with mechanized de-
velopment. The post’s selection also symbolized an acceptance
of the principles of mounted operations developed in the pre-
ceding decade by the mechanized cavalry. In fact, planning for
the new organization anticipated the leading influence to be
played by mechanized cavalry ideas and leadership. This link-
age became more pronounced with the appointment of Major
General Adna R. Chaffee Jr. asthe first chief of the Armored
Force. He had been closely associated with mechanized devel-
opment since the days of the Experimental M echanized Force
and subsequently rose to command the 7th Cavalry Brigade
(Mechanized).33

Initially, fielding new formations dominated the focus of the
Armored Force. Fourteen armored divisions activated between
July 1940 and November 1942, followed by two morein 1943.34
This large-scal e expansion mandated the rapid generation of
training programs, doctrine, and training facilities. Large-scale
construction and expansion occurred at Fort Knox, as the post
worked to accommodate not only the newly stationed 1st Ar-
mored Division, but also | Armored Corps Headquarters, the
Armored Force School, the Armored Force Replacement Train-
ing Center, and the Armored Force Board.®

The armored division incorporated the organizational flexibil-
ity of the mechanized cavalry regiment on alarger scale. It func-
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tioned as a collection of combined-arms teams, or task forces.
Each task force included a mix of tanks, infantry, reconnais-
sance, and artillery. Several task forces operated under the con-
trol of acombat command, a headquartersthat reported directly
to the division commander, who assigned divisional assets to
each combat command, based on the division’s mission. The
combat command then fashioned task forces from assets pro-
vided. Hence, the division dispensed with the traditional, rigid
brigade and regimental command structure.3

The combat commands provided the means to track multiple
fast-moving task forcesthat could react quickly to tactical de-
velopments. In general terms, the armored division had evolved
into a collection of combined-arms teams that continuously re-
distributed its resources to capitalize on task force success. It
also leveraged the command techniques and radio reliance pio-
neered by the 7th Cavalry Brigade (M echanized).

A strong link emerged between the new armored divisions and
Fort Knox. All armored doctrine, training guidance, personnel
appointments, materiel requirements, and tables of organiza-
tion and equipment emanated from the post. New soldiers and
replacementsalso trained at Fort Knox before joining their units.
Through its central influence, the Armored Force sought to en-
sure uniformity in training, doctrine, and adherence to common
standards. The direct influence of Fort Knox on armored orga-
nizations diminished during World War 1, especialy after their
deployment overseas. However, the Armored Force School re-
mained a nexus for the dissemination of doctrinal updates and
combat lessons pertinent to mounted operations.

The Armored Force also inherited responsibility for infantry
support, arole previously borne by the infantry. Separate tank
battalions, beginning with the 70th Tank Battalion and later in-
corporating National Guard armored units, were assigned to a
genera headquarters pool for temporary attachment to infantry
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divisions as needed. While the armored divisions were expected
to wield adecisive influence through independent operations, the
separate tank battalions were intended to operate closely with
rifle units.

Separate tank battalion development, however, suffered from
several problems. From 1940 to 1942, lack of attention consti-
tuted the most pressing issue. In this period, the Armored Force
focused its energies on fielding armored divisions, largely to the
exclusion of the separate battalions, which lacked uniform doc-
trine, materiel, and training standards. Worse, the tank battalions
initially retained their prewar organization with its absence of
reconnaissance and support elements. After observing several
tank battalions during maneuvers, one armored officer cameto
the realization that “the G.H.Q. tank battalions without recon-
naissance, fire support, and adequate radios are nothing more
than aherd of elephants, and blind at that!”37

Major General Jacob L. Devers, who succeeded Chaffee as
chief of the Armored Force, acknowledged this problem, noting
“the tank battalions are now in the category of lost children and
we must take prompt action to bring them into the fold and be
in closer touch with their needs and problems.” Subsequent im-
provements included reorganizing separate tank battalions to
make them identical to armor battalions in armored divisions,
including the provision of reconnaissance assets. A new field
manual issued in 1943 also provided more effective guidance
for separate tank battalion operations and doctrinally aligned
them with other armored operations.38

Conversely, mounted reconnaissance remained outside the
scope of Armored Force responsibilities. Instead, it devel oped
separately under the guidance of the Cavalry School at Fort Ri-
ley, Kansas. There, light mechanized squadrons were organized
to acquire battlefield intelligence. They were not intended to
perform the full range of cavalry functions and did not possess
the organic means to do so. Embedded as divisional reconnais-
sance assets or employed separately under a group headquar-
ters, these organizations found few opportunities during World
War |1 to conduct purely reconnai ssance missions. Instead, they
found themselves engaged in a broad range of roles for which
they were not configured to perform. Consequently, postwar
analysis emphasized the importance of crafting reconnaissance
units equipped to fight for information and imbued with the
same combined arms principles found in the armored divisions.®

The armored cavalry regiment reflected these concepts. In the
late 1940s, the onset of the Cold War generated a need for addi-
tional combat organizations to defend central Europe against a
possible Warsaw Pact invasion. Those units performing stability
operationsin occupied Germany were reconfigured into the first
armored cavalry regiments. These new units included consider-
able combat power. Their concept of operations embraced com-
bined-arms principles, mobile dispersed operations; robust elec-
tronic communications; and a diverse mission set. In essence,
they constituted areturn to the general purpose combat unit rep-
resented by the 7th Cavalry Brigade (M echanized) at Fort Knox
in the 1930s.40

The aftermath of World War 11 led to reconsideration of the fu-
ture course of armored devel opment within the Army. The war-
time contributions of armored divisions, mechanized reconnais-
sance, and separate tank battalions warranted their retention, but
the Armored Force possessed no legal status and no longer ex-
isted by war'send.* The question of apermanent mounted branch
became part of a broader discussion between Congress and the
Army concerning the structure of the postwar army. Resolution
occurred through passage of the Army Organization Act of
1950.42 Thisact provided the legal foundation for asingle branch
that consolidated armored and cavalry development. The Armor

Branch resulted and was responsible for the doctrine, materiel,
training, and organi zation of mounted maneuver units other than
mechanized infantry. The central role played by Fort Knox in
mechanized devel opment since 1931 found acknowledgement in
the selection of the post as the headquarters of the new branch.

Cold War devel opments continued to reflect the shaping influ-
ence of the 7th Cavalry Brigade (M echanized) and the wartime
experience of the armored divisions. The flexible organization,
battle command techniques, maneuver emphasis, and high op-
erational tempo remained fundamental characteristicsof mount-
ed maneuver units. Even in today’s operational environment,
these qualities are readily discernible. The Army’stransition to
amodular combat team structure, for example, parallelsthe gen-
era principles embedded in the combat command structure of
the World War |1 armored divisions.

However, the Armor Branch that emerged in 1950 al so reflect-
ed the experiences of the separate tank battalions intended for
infantry support. The battlefields of World War 11 demonstrated
the need for close armor support of the rifleman at the small-
unit level. More recently, the importance of tank-infantry opera-
tions at company level and bel ow has been demonstrated in Op-
eration Iragi Freedom. Tactical coordination problems experi-
enced between separate tank battalions and infantry formations
in World War 11 resulted in the permanent assignment of tank
units to postwar infantry divisions.4

Infantry influences on armored devel opment al so became man-
ifest in other areas. In the years prior to World Wer 11, the infan-
try consistently sought greater tank firepower in contrast to the
mechani zed cavalry, which feared adegradation of platform ma-
neuverability and mobility. After the war, American main bettle
tank designs consistently favored a more powerful main arma-
ment and increased armor protection. Similarly, Major General
George A. Lynch, chief of infantry from 1937 to 1941, associ-
ated the tank with antitank operations. His view was rejected at
thetime by senior leaders, who considered tank-versus-tank com-
bat an exceptional occurrence. Wartime experiences, however,
validated the need for using tanksin an antitank role, and post-
war doctrine embraced thetank asthe best antitank weapon avail-
ableto the Army.4

However, Fort Knox remained at the center of armored devel-
opment, where the Armor Center and School shaped the doc-
trine, organization, training, and leadership of the mounted
branch. Even after initial training, all armored soldiers tended
toreturn to the post for either further training or as part of aduty
assignment. Armored materiel aso reflected the study and anal-
ysis of battlefield needs conducted by combat developers at
Fort Knox. The Abrams tank, for example, originated as a con-
cept and set of requirements determined by the Main Battle
Tank Task Force, a specia team assembled on post for this pur-
posein 19724

Today, it ishard to disassociate Fort Knox with armored devel -
opment. Since 1931, the post has been in theforefront of mount-
ed maneuver, developing ideas and principles of operations now
embedded in Armor doctrine and training programs. The roots
and heritage of the branch lie at Fort Knox. From the earliest
days of the 1st Cavalry Regiment (Mechanized) to the current
global war on terror and the design of the Future Combat Sys-
tems, activities on the post have shaped the Nation's armored
warfare capability. Hence, the current realignment of the Armor
Center and School to Fort Benning constitutes a new chapter in
armor’ sdevel opment. It doesnot represent areturntothebranch’s
roots — those lie at Fort Knox, where the Thunderbolt was first

forged. >
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